MODELING THE CARDIAC ELECTROMECHANICAL FUNCTION: A MATHEMATICAL JOURNEY

ALFIO QUARTERONI, LUCA DEDÈ, AND FRANCESCO REGAZZONI

ABSTRACT. In this paper we introduce the electromechanical mathematical model of the human heart. After deriving it from physical first principles, we discuss its mathematical properties and the way numerical methods can be set up to obtain numerical approximations of the (otherwise unachievable) mathematical solutions. The major challenges that we need to face—e.g., possible lack of initial and boundary data, the trade off between increasing the accuracy of the numerical model and its computational complexity-are addressed. Numerical tests here presented have a twofold aim: to show that numerical solutions match the expected theoretical rate of convergence, and that our model can provide a preliminary valuable tool to face problems of clinical relevance.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	372
Part	1. From the physical problem to the mathematical model	374
2.	Cardiac anatomy and physiology at a glance	374
3.	Modeling cardiac electrophysiology	376
4.	Modeling active force generation	379
5.	Modeling cardiac mechanics	381
6.	Modeling blood circulation	383
7.	A fully coupled cardiac electromechanics model	384
Part	2. Numerical approximation	386
8.	Why should we turn to numerical approximation	386
9.	Space discretization	387
10	. Time discretization	388
Part	3. Numerical solution	390
11	Numerical results for cardiac electromechanics	390
12	. Towards clinical applications	393
13	Conclusions and a look ahead	396
Ab	pout the authors	398
Re	ferences	398

Received by the editors December 7, 2020.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 65-02.

This project has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 740132, iHEART—An Integrated Heart Model for the simulation of the cardiac function, P.I., A. Quarteroni).

1. INTRODUCTION

Historical tips. Since the dawn of history, the heart and its functioning have fascinated the best minds on our planet, through a long journey marked by intuitions and dazzles. Three centuries BC, Aristotle claimed that the blood vessels transmitted animal heat from the heart to the periphery. Shortly thereafter, Praxagoras of Kos sensed the different role of arteries and veins and assumed that the arteries transported air, and veins blood. It was Galen in the second century AD to recognize that arteries also carry blood.

Thirteen centuries later, the great Leonardo Da Vinci distinguished for the first time ventricles from atria (auriculae), describing the moti del core as a result of the contraction of the atria that coincides with the ventricular diastole, while, conversely, the ventricular systole occurs along with the expansion of the atria. In the seventeenth century Harvey correctly described the blood circulation for the first time. Thanks to the beating heart vivisection of various animals, he recognized that the heart values in the veins were designed to activate only if the blood flowed to the heart and therefore concluded that "the blood has a movement, and it is circular". In the following century, the great mathematicians Leonhard Euler and Daniel Bernoulli made decisive steps forward. In 1730 Bernoulli, professor of mathematics and anatomy at the University of Basel, formulated his famous vis viva equation between pressure, density, and velocity of blood. In 1775 Euler, in a work entitled Principia pro motu sanguinis per arteria determinando [30], wrote a series of differential equations—still fundamental and used in areas as diverse as the gas motion in pipes or aircraft aerodynamics design—to describe the evolution of blood flow and pressure in an idealized cylindrical blood vessel. These equations have then been generalized and today still set the ground for a one-dimensional model of blood flow in the complex network of arteries and veins of our circulatory system.

An integrated heart model. The ambition of today's mathematicians is to travel the furrow traced by Euler for creating a virtual, immaterial heart, made only of equations, able to reproduce all the vital cardiac processes: the propagation of the electric potential, the contraction and relaxation of the myocardium (the heart muscle), the blood dynamics in atria and ventricles, the coronaries perfusion of the myocardium, the valve dynamics, and all their mutual interactions. This extraordinary complexity, which mysteriously determines the harmonious synchronization producing the heartbeat, can be turned into a mathematical model, thanks to the first principles of physics, that is Newton's laws, thermodynamics, chemical kinetics, Navier–Stokes for blood dynamics and Maxwell's for the propagation of the electric field, etc. However, this is not enough, as the corresponding equations need to be supplemented with constitutive equations that characterize the specific nature of the cardiac tissue at hand. One such relationship relates stresses and strains for the cardiac muscles and accounts for the material properties of the myocardium. Other equations are necessary to characterize the way cardiomyocytes (the elementary components of the cardiac muscle) contract and relax once stimulated by electrical signal propagating through the myocardium. The result is a system of coupled nonlinear differential equations, ordinary differential equations (ODEs), and partial differential equations (PDEs): once properly solved—and this will inevitably call into play computers, as a matter of fact supercomputers!—this system ought be suitable to simulate the human heart function. The solution of this *integrated heart model* (IHM) represents a scientifically arduous challenge: the dream is however to provide researchers in applied mathematics, bioengineering, and life sciences, as well as physiologists, cardiologists, and cardiac surgeons, with an effective and powerful tool aimed to the qualitative and quantitative study of the heart, both in physiological or pathological conditions, and at making advances in the diagnosis and treatment of heart diseases.

In this paper, we provide an in-depth and rigorous mathematical presentation of the most crucial aspect of the entire IHM: the so-called electromechanical (EM) mathematical model. We will first derive it from basic principles. In particular, we will highlight the way the activation force triggered by the transmembrane electric potential is generated at the cardiomyocytes level and then affects the whole muscle deformation. We will then recall the main mathematical results inherent to the well-posedness of the electromechanical model components.

The role of data. A mathematical model, if properly designed, enjoys the property of *universality*, that is its validity is independent of the specific context to which it is applied. Of course, what makes the mathematical model most valuable is its ability to adapt to any specific context: in our case, virtually to every possible individual, thanks to the data that characterize it. Data are needed to feed models. For an IHM, data concern the geometrical shape of a specific heart, initial and boundary conditions that must supplement the differential equations, parameters that characterize material properties, just to mention a few. Data is a crucial issue. Shapes can be retrieved from medical images (such as computer tomography or magnetic resonance imaging) after a good deal of geometric preprocessing. Initial and boundary conditions are seldom available, as they would require invasive (and unnecessary) clinical examinations on patients. Also material parameters are not easy to obtain for specific patients due to the difficulty of producing ad hoc measurements. To compensate for the insufficiency (or lack) of data, mathematicians have historically came up with brilliant ideas such as parameters identification, variational or Kalman filter-based techniques for data assimilation. Moreover, whereas the mathematical model is deterministic in itself, data could be uncertain. It is therefore of paramount importance to quantify how this uncertainty propagates from the input data to the outputs. Dealing with uncertainty in data has required ad hoc, often sophisticated, mathematical tools as well.

Road to solution. Once the differential system is completed by the missing data, closed-form solutions seldom (almost never) exist. The first step is an a priori mathematical analysis to understand in which regimes a solution exists, whether it is unique and if it continuously depends on data (this is the *well-posedness* in the sense of Hadamard).

Once our problem is set upon rigorous mathematical ground, the next step consists of approximating it by reducing it to a finite dimension, say N (typically very large, of an order of millions or more). A mathematically rigorous strategy consists in projecting the variational formulation (that is the weak formulation) of the differential system onto finite-dimensional subspaces of the Sobolev spaces (typically H^1 , see, e.g., [3]) to which the weak solution of the original system belongs. To make sure that we have suitably operated, our new finite-dimensional (*numerical*) problem must enjoy the properties of *stability* and *convergence*. Stability is the continuous dependence (uniformly, with respect to N), in suitable norms, of the solution to the problem's data. Convergence is the property of the numerical solution to tend to the exact (unknown) one once N tends to infinity. Error estimates represent a further peculiar feature of numerical problems. Besides being convergent, the numerical solution should converge to the exact one in suitable norms with a specific rate of convergence with respect to 1/N. In practice, for models of this kind of complexity, a tradeoff between accuracy and computational effort has to be pursued. Needless to say, as N is unavoidably extremely large (often reaching hundreds of millions), supercomputers are necessary at this stage. Indeed, the simulation of a single heartbeat (about one second of physical time) may require several hours of computation on a big, modern supercomputer.

But what is all that for? From a mathematician's perspective, mathematical and numerical models of the heart function represent an inexhaustible source of mathematical challenges. From an applied mathematician's perspective, the excitement is further enhanced by the ambition to provide doctors with a "tool" that may help them with diagnosis and treatment.

In this paper we will illustrate the paradigm (data, mathematical model; numerical approximation, computer simulation), and we will show in a few examples the way we can nowadays provide doctors with solutions of clinical relevance. In this regard cardiac electromechanics provides an excellent testing ground, more and more as the state of the art in mathematical modeling, numerical methods, and computational platforms advances. As a matter of fact, starting from the visionary works of C. S. Peskin [62, 63], this topic has inspired an impressive body of research from many research groups around the world (see, e.g., [10,11,17,21,25,26,32,37,39,57,65,83,85,86,90,94]).

Paper outline. The outline of the paper is as follows. In Part 1 we will give a short introduction to the elementary concepts of cardiac anatomy and physiology. Then we will introduce the mathematical model of cardiac electrophysiology and active force generation. We will then focus on the modeling of cardiac mechanics and will conclude with the multiscale model of cardiac electromechanics. Part 2 will be devoted to the finite-dimensional approximation in space (by the finite element method) and in time. We will then comment on the use of efficient solvers for the associated nonlinear algebraic systems of very large size. Part 3 will then illustrate the numerical solutions that we can achieve, as well as some examples that are relevant to clinical applications. Conclusions and possible generalizations follow.

Part 1. From the physical problem to the mathematical model

2. Cardiac anatomy and physiology at a glance

The human heart is a sophisticated machine, whose functional role is pumping blood throughout the body to its cells, supplying the organs with oxygen, and removing the metabolic waste. The contraction of the heart muscle is due to that of the cardiomyocytes, the cardiac cells, once activated by electrical processes. As a matter of fact, at each heartbeat, an electrical potential propagates through the heart tissue until it reaches each cardiomyocyte of the atria and ventricles (the heart chambers). This synchronized propagation activates an orderly contraction of the heart chambers and generates the heart rhythm. More specifically, each heartbeat is triggered by an electrical signal, originating from the sino-atrial node, the heart's



FIGURE 1. (a) The heart is made of four chambers (two atria and two ventricles). The heart contraction is triggered by the sinoatrial (SA) node, from which an electric signal propagates through the atria. Then it reaches the atrioventricular (AV) node and it propagates through the Purkinje fibers, thus reaching all the ventricular cells. (b) The cell membrane of cardiomyocytes is scattered by ion channels, which selectively allow the transit of specific ion species. (c) Among these ionic species, calcium serves as the intracellular messenger by triggering the contraction of sarcomeres. The latter are made of an almost crystalline arrangement of thin filaments and thick filaments. The sliding between the two families of filaments yields to the contraction of the muscle.

natural pacemaker consisting of a group of self-excitable cells that is located in the upper part of the right atrium (see Figure 1). The signal propagates from one cell to another through the two atria and reaches the atrioventricular node, located between the atria and the ventricles. The atrioventricular node acts as a filter for signal propagation to ensure that the contraction of the ventricles begins once the blood has passed from the atria into the same ventricles. The electrical signal then propagates from the atrioventricular node through the Purkinje fibers, a high-conductibility network of fibers, reaching the myocardial cells.

In order to derive a mathematical description of these macroscopic processes, it is necessary to start from a description of the microscopic mechanisms that generate them, following a micro-to-macro approach. This process starts from the elementary components of the cardiac muscle tissue, cardiomyocytes (i.e., cardiac muscle cells). These are in fact excitable: when electrically stimulated, the electrochemical balance of the cell membrane changes, giving rise to a sequence of biochemical processes that determine a significant variation in cell potential: rapid depolarization followed by a repolarization. This phenomenon, known as action potential, is due to the opening and closing of ion channels, located in the cell membrane. The latter becomes permeable to different ions (calcium, potassium, magnesium) thanks to the transmembrane potential, that is the difference in voltage between the internal and external part of the cell. The ionic fluxes determine a variation of the transmembrane potential and have a feedback effect on the voltage difference itself. Among the various ionic species involved in the dynamics of the action potential, calcium ions play an important role. Calcium represents the trigger for muscle contraction: calcium ions induce a complex chain of reactions generating an active force inside the cardiomyocytes. Finally, thanks to a process of transmission through different space-time scales, the active force at the microscopic scales (that of cardiomyocytes) generates a resultant force at the organ level, thus giving rise to the contraction of ventricles and atria. The combined effect of active and passive force (i.e., the reaction of the myocardium to mechanical stress), as well as the coordinated action of the atria and ventricles, governs the blood fluid dynamics in the four chambers as well as the valve dynamics. The building blocks of this complex network of interactions are summarized in Figure 2. In Sections 3, 4, 5, and 6, starting from the microscale and progressively climbing the hierarchy of scales up to the macroscale, we present mathematical models describing the above mentioned processes.

3. Modeling cardiac electrophysiology

As mentioned, the driver of the cardiac function is electrophysiology, i.e., the result of chemical and electrical processes taking place at different spatial scales, from subcellular to the the whole organ scale. A mathematical description of these processes is based on the translation into mathematical terms of the principles ruling the electro-chemical activity of ions species at the finest scale; then, by progressively climbing up the hierarchy of spatial scales, a set of equations describing the tissue-level electrophysiological activity is derived.

Let $\Omega_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be an open connected set, denoting the region of space occupied by the cardiac tissue. This region can be split into two subregions, namely the inner space of cells (*intracellular space*) and the region located outside the cell membranes (extracellular space). The intracellular and extracellular spaces are separated by the cell membranes, which are scattered by ion channels. An ion channel can be understood as an opening in the cell membrane that selectively allows the transit of specific ion species. The movement of electrically charged ions generates an electric current. Starting from Maxwell's laws of electromagnetism and Einstein's theory on Brownian motion [29], one can derive a system of PDEs describing the ion dynamics. An analytical solution of this system can be obtained under the (realistic) assumption that the ion dynamics in the direction tangential to the cell membrane is negligible compared to the transmembrane one. By further neglecting the space variations across the membrane and focusing exclusively on space-averaged equations, this allows us to link the electric current crossing the membrane (denoted by $I_{\rm ion}$) with the concentration of ionic species and with the transmembrane potential, defined as $v = u_i - u_e$, where u_i and u_e denote the electric potential in the intracellular and extracellular spaces, respectively.

The membrane of cardiomyocytes is selectively permeable to multiple ionic species, such as sodium, potassium, and calcium, whose fluxes are regulated by the opening and closing of the ion channels. To track the opening and closing of these channels,

376



FIGURE 2. The cardiac function is the result of several physical processes acting in concert, including electrophysiology, active and passive mechanics, perfusion, fluid dynamics, and valve dynamics. These physical processes are tightly coupled together; they are visually conveyed being grouped in the same box. We also highlight the way the integrated heart model of the left ventricle interacts with external circulation. Specifically, red arrows denote oxygenated blood fluxes, blue arrows denote de-oxygenated blood fluxes. Solid arrows represent the main blood pathways (namely, systemic and pulmonary circulations), while dashed arrows represent coronary circulation, consisting in the blood vessels that perfuse the myocardium itself.

as well as the resulting electric current, several models have been proposed in the literature. These models are written in the general form

(3.1)
$$\frac{d\mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{\text{ion}}(v, \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}), \qquad I_{\text{ion}} = \mathscr{I}_{\text{ion}}(v, \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}),$$

where \mathscr{I}_{ion} and Φ_{ion} are suitably defined functions and $\mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_{\text{ion}}}$ is a vector collecting the so-called *ionic variables*, describing ion channels, concentrations, or simply phenomenological variables. For the latter, a typical example concerns recovery variables, namely variables that account for the tissue refractoriness, without a one-to-one relationship with measurable physical quantities. Ideally, system (3.1) applies at any cell location. Notable examples are provided by the Aliev–Panfilov model [4], which envisages a single ionic variable (i.e., $N_{\text{ion}} = 1$) that accounts

for tissue refractoriness; the Ten Tusscher–Panfilov model [89], which includes 18 variables describing ionic concentrations and the probability of opening of specific ion channels; the O'Hara–Rudy model [59], featuring $N_{\rm ion} = 41$ variables, which was built and calibrated upon data coming from more than 100 undiseased human hearts.

To complete a model describing the electrical activity across the cell membrane, we need to relate the total ionic current $I_{\rm ion}$ to the dynamics of the transmembrane potential v. With this aim, the cell membrane is modeled as a capacitor with capacity C_m : when a current I crosses the cell membrane for an infinitesimal time interval dt, the transmembrane potential difference decreases by $I/C_m dt$ (by convention, current and potential difference are taken with opposite signs).

Furthermore, equation (3.1) describes the electrical activity of a single cell. However, in the cardiac tissue, the nearly three billion cells are not electrically isolated. Indeed, they are connected by the so-called *gap junctions*, which link the intracellular and extracellular spaces of adjacent cells and which allow the electrical signal to propagate from one cell to another. The following equation, known as the monodomain model [24], accounts for these effects by means of a diffusive term:

(3.2)
$$\chi_m C_m \partial_t v - \nabla \cdot (\mathbf{D} \nabla v) + \chi_m I_{\text{ion}} = \mathcal{I}_{\text{app}} \quad \text{in } \Omega_0 \times (0, T].$$

In the above equation \mathcal{I}_{app} represents an externally applied current, while χ_m denotes the area-to-volume ratio (i.e., the amount of membrane area per volume of tissue), and it allows us to relate the microscopic cell dynamics to quantities related to a macroscopical characterization of the tissue. The tensor **D**, known as the *conductivity tensor*, characterizes the electrical properties of the tissue. A feature of cardiac tissue is that the electrical signal propagates with a larger speed in the fibers' direction (i.e., **f**₀) than in the orthogonal directions. To account for such an anisotropic property, **D** is typically defined as

$$\mathbf{D} = \sigma_f \mathbf{f}_0 \otimes \mathbf{f}_0 + \sigma_s \mathbf{s}_0 \otimes \mathbf{s}_0 + \sigma_n \mathbf{n}_0 \otimes \mathbf{n}_0,$$

where σ_f , σ_s , and σ_n represent the conductivity coefficients in the fibers, sheets, and cross-fibers directions. The triplet $(\mathbf{f}_0, \mathbf{s}_0, \mathbf{n}_0)$ not only characterizes the electrical behavior of the tissue, but also its mechanical response, as we will describe in Section 5.

The applied current \mathcal{I}_{app} is typically prescribed as a function with support restricted to a short time interval (usually a few milliseconds) at the beginning of each heartbeat and to a few spots located close to the surface of the myocardium, representing the end points of the Purkinje fibers. The typical solution of (3.2) is in the form of a traveling wave for the variable v, originating from the locations where \mathcal{I}_{app} is applied. When a point of the domain is reached by the wavefront, v quickly raises (depolarization), then features a plateau, and finally returns to its resting position (repolarization); this yields the so called *action potential*. Due to the quick depolarization, the potential wave is characterized by a very steep front.

The monodomain model can be derived from the bidomain model, in which two separate variables are associated with the electric potential of the intracellular and extracellular space. In its turn, the bidomain model can be rigorously derived by assuming the existence of the extracellular and intracellular spaces as two simply connected subdomains and by employing a homogenization technique [24].

A general comment is in order. Even when it is derived from physical principles, the mathematical meaningfulness of a model is not guaranteed a priori yet. Specifically, one should check that the problem is *well-posed* from a mathematical standpoint, that is, a solution exists, it is unique, and it depends continuously on data (the importance of the latter assumption is related to the uncertainty that unavoidably affects the measurements of these data). Moreover, the existence of solutions is an essential requirement to address the numerical approximation of a model. As a matter of fact, even if approximate solutions exist, they would be meaningless in the absence of an exact solution to which they can converge. In this regard, we report that a well-posedness result for the bidomain model coupled with the FitzHugh–Nagumo model [33] is presented in [34]. Another well-posedness result, that makes use of a fixed-point argument, is provided in [93].

4. Modeling active force generation

Due to the action potential dynamics, in the first stages of each heartbeat the calcium concentration inside cardiomyocytes (denoted by $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, where *i* stands for *intracellular*) quickly raises by nearly one order of magnitude before returning to its resting value in nearly a half second. In fact calcium acts as a cellular messenger by triggering the contraction of cardiomyocytes. At the microscopic scale, cardiomyocytes are organized in sarcomeres, cylinder shaped contractile elements of the size of nearly 2 µm. Sarcomeres are composed of *myofilaments*, thin filaments made of the proteins troponin, tropomyosin, and actin, and thick filaments made of the protein myosin. The active force is generated by the interaction between actin and myosin, molecular motors capable of transforming the chemical energy into mechanical work [47]. The long-standing hypothesis that muscle contraction was led by folding of elongated protein filaments was challenged by the discovery that the filaments' length remains constant during contraction and that it is instead the mutual sliding between the two families of filaments (thin and thick) that makes the muscle contract [45, 46]. This discovery, known as sliding filaments theory, was made independently by two research teams: on one side, the British biologist H. Huxley and biophysicist J. Hanson, working at MIT; on the other, the British physiologist A. F. Huxley (Nobel prize winner in 1963 for his work on the action potential) and the German physician R. Niedergerke, working at the University of Cambridge. The two teams decided to publish their work in two consecutive articles in the same issue of Nature [45, 46].

Many models describing these microscopic mechanisms have been proposed in the literature. In general terms, these force generation models are written in the form

(4.1)
$$\frac{d\mathbf{z}_{act}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{act} \left(\mathbf{z}_{act}, [Ca^{2+}]_i, SL, \frac{dSL}{dt} \right), \qquad T_a = q(\mathbf{z}_{act}),$$

where $\mathbf{z}_{act}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_{act}}$ denotes a vector collecting the state variables associated with the dynamics of the contractile proteins and T_a denotes the generated *active* force. The state variables \mathbf{z}_{act} may be associated either with the probability of the regulatory proteins of being in a given state [51,70,78,95], or with the elongation of the contractile proteins [72,97], or finally they may be phenomenological variables [51,55]. The dynamics of $\mathbf{z}_{act}(t)$ is driven by that of the calcium concentration ($[\mathrm{Ca}^{2+}]_i$) and of the sarcomere length, denoted by SL. As a matter of fact, when the sarcomere is elongated (i.e., for large SL), the generated force tends to increase; moreover, when the sarcomere is shortening (i.e., when d SL/dt < 0), the generated force is lower than in steady-state conditions (i.e., when d SL/dt = 0). In recent years, many efforts have been devoted to the development of force generation models [50, 56, 70, 77, 80]. The main challenge facing modelers is to describe the complex subcellular processes underlying force generation in a compact way [74, 77]. In fact, despite several models that describe in a biophysically detailed manner the force generation mechanisms that have been proposed, these are not suitable for numerical simulations because of the overwhelming computational cost associated with their numerical approximation. These difficulties are mainly related to two reasons.

The first reason is the stochastic nature of the processes in play, due to the scale at which they occur (the spatial scales are so small that the effects of thermal agitation cannot be overlooked) [81]. For this reason, the output of a force generation model is not a deterministic solution, but rather a probability distribution on the space of the trajectories of the system. Clearly, this dramatically increases the dimensionality of the problem.

The second reason lies in the nearest-neighbor interactions taking place between the proteins that make up the sarcomere [48,77]. Because of these interactions, in fact, mean-field approximations, which are widely used in the context of molecular dynamics to lower the computational burden of numerical simulations, cannot be adopted without compromising the validity of the results. In fact, these nearestneighbor interactions are at the basis of an important phenomenon, namely the cooperativity of contractile units, for which the calcium-activated units favor the activation of neighboring units, thus generating a highly nonlinear relationship between calcium concentration and generated force. These cooperative processes, of fundamental importance for an efficient functioning of the organism, cannot be grasped by mean-field models, in which a single representative unit is considered and the other units are taken into account through the average effect they have on the representative unit [77].

To give a concrete example, let us consider the model proposed in the seminal work [78], in which the authors demonstrated the importance of a spatially explicit description of the sarcomere proteins. In this model, each contractile unit is described by a 4-state Markov chain. Considering a single myofilament with N = 32 units, we have $4^N \simeq 2 \cdot 10^{19}$ possible states. Hence, to characterize a probability distribution over this set, we need an order of 10^{19} variables. In conclusion, to simulate on a computer the dynamics of this stochastic model, more than 10^5 petabytes (i.e., 10^{20} bytes) would be required just to store the system state in the computer memory. This corresponds to more than 30000 times the storage capacity of the largest supercomputer in the world (up to June 2020).¹ This situation is not uncommon: a mathematical model is available; however, its practical interest is very limited because of the overwhelming computational cost of its numerical approximation. In these cases, suitable modeling assumptions and/or mathematical tools are employed to derive an approximate, yet computationally feasible, *reduced mathematical model*.

In the case at hand, in order to capture the cooperative effects without explicitly tracking the joint probability of units of the whole filament, several strategies have been proposed in the literature. Among these, we mention Monte Carlo sampling techniques [96, 97] and the reduction of the number of unknowns obtained by grouping together suitable subsets of the states [18, 49, 95]. Alternatively, in

¹THE TOP500 PROJECT, https://www.top500.org (URL consulted on July 29, 2020).

[79] the transition rates of the Markov chain were expressed as nonlinear functions of the calcium concentration, to phenomenologically reproduce the cooperative behavior. In [71,72], we introduced a physically motivated assumption of conditional independence of the stochastic processes associated with units that are far from each other along the filament, given the state of the intermediate units. With this assumption, we can describe the protein dynamics through a nonlinear system of nearly 2000 ODEs, thus allowing us to numerically approximate the solution of one heartbeat in just a few seconds of computational time.

A different approach is that of phenomenological models [44, 50, 55, 79]: these do not derive equations from first principles, rather they are built by fitting the measured data with simple laws, chosen a priori by the modeler. The numerical solution of these models, typically expressed as systems of few ODEs, feature a lower computational cost than physics-based models. However, they provide a poorer insight than physically detailed models and they are characterized by a hampered predictive power under experimental conditions different from those under which they are built.

5. Modeling Cardiac Mechanics

During each heartbeat, the heart muscle undergoes large deformations (up to few centimeters). To model the myocardium displacement, the strain of the tissue must be related to the internal stress induced by cardiomyocytes' contraction and to the pressure exerted by the blood onto the endocardium, the internal surface of the cardiac chambers. The conceptual framework to describe this phenomenon is *continuum mechanics*, of which we recall basic notions in the following. For more detail, we refer the interested readers to, e.g., [8,58].

Let $\Omega_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be an open connected set, which we denote as the reference (or undeformed) configuration, designating the region of space occupied by an elastic body at rest. In our setting this will be the region occupied by the heart muscle, say at the end of the diastole (the time t = 0 of our simulations). We consider a time-dependent deformation map $\varphi : \Omega_0 \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$, such that $\mathbf{x} = \varphi(\mathbf{X},t)$ (spatial coordinate) represents the position occupied by the point $\mathbf{X} \in \Omega_0$ (material coordinate) at time t. We thus define the displacement field $\mathbf{d}(\mathbf{X}) := \varphi(\mathbf{X}) - \mathbf{X}$ and the deformation gradient tensor $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X},t) = \nabla \varphi(\mathbf{X},t) = \mathbf{I} + \nabla \mathbf{d}$, where \mathbf{I} denotes the identity tensor and ∇ is the gradient operator in the reference (material) coordinate. The deformation map is assumed to be smooth enough (typically twice continuously differentiable, but weaker regularity is admitted), injective, and orientation preserving (i.e., its Jacobian $J = \det \mathbf{F} > 0$ for any $\mathbf{X} \in \Omega_0$). By denoting by Lin the vector space of the linear transformations from \mathbb{R}^d into itself, let us introduce the subset $\mathrm{Lin}^+ := {\mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{Lin s.t. det } \mathbf{A} > 0}$.

By Newton's second law, the displacement field $\mathbf{d}(t)$ satisfies the momentum balance equation,

(5.1)
$$\rho \,\partial_{tt} \mathbf{d} - \nabla \cdot \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{h} \qquad \text{in } \Omega_0 \times (0, T],$$

endowed with suitable boundary conditions, where ρ is the mass density of the body and where **h** represents an externally applied load (force per unit volume). The tensor **P**, known as the *first Piola–Kirchhoff stress tensor* (or simply the Piola stress tensor), encodes the internal stresses of the body. For the sake of model closure, the stress tensor **P** is defined via a constitutive law, which is a relationship

linking the state of strain of the body with its state of stress. This law can possibly depend on the rate of strain (e.g., in the case of visco-elastic materials). For elastic materials the stress tensor can be written in terms of the strain, i.e., $\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{F})$. Here we focus on hyperelastic materials, characterized by a strain energy density \mathcal{W} , such that $\int_{\Omega_0} \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{X}) dV_0$ provides the total elastic energy stored by the body as a consequence of the deformation, where $\mathcal{W}(\mathbf{X}) = \mathcal{W}_{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X}))$ for some $\mathcal{W}_{\mathbf{F}}$: $\mathrm{Lin}^+ \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$. By definition, hyperelastic materials are such that

(5.2)
$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \mathbf{F}}$$

The passive mechanical response of the heart is significantly anisotropic, due to the presence of fibers. Many anisotropic constitutive laws have been proposed in the literature to describe the cardiac tissue (see, e.g., [39, 40, 43, 92]), accounting for the different elastic response along the three directions \mathbf{f}_0 , \mathbf{s}_0 , and \mathbf{n}_0 , the three preferential directions that also characterize the electrical diffusivity of the cardiac tissue (see Section 3). These energies typically feature an exponential dependence on the strain to model the large stiffening of the tissue when it is over-stretched. As an example, the material model of [92] is defined by the strain energy density function

(5.3)
$$\mathcal{W} = \frac{C}{2} \left(e^Q - 1 \right) + \frac{B}{2} (J - 1) \log J,$$
$$Q = b_{ff} E_{ff}^2 + b_{ss} E_{ss}^2 + b_{nn} E_{nn}^2 + 2b_{fs} E_{fs}^2 + 2b_{fn} E_{fn}^2 + 2b_{sn} E_{sn}^2$$

where C > 0 is a constant and $E_{ab} = \mathbf{E} \mathbf{a}_0 \cdot \mathbf{b}_0$, for $a, b \in \{f, s, n\}$, are the entries of the Green–Saint Venant tensor $\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{F}^T\mathbf{F} - \mathbf{I})$ in the $(\mathbf{f}_0, \mathbf{s}_0, \mathbf{n}_0)$ frame of reference. The constant B > 0 is the bulk modulus which weights the volumetric term $\frac{1}{2}(J-1)\log J$ by penalizing those deformations that would lead to a change of volume occupied by the tissue $(J = \det \mathbf{F} \neq 1)$. The latter term leads to a quasiincompressible formulation, as little volume variations are allowed. The strongly incompressible formulation is an alternative, in which the balance of the momentum equation (5.1) is coupled with the constraint J = 1, and the Piola stress tensor is redefined as $\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathbf{F}} - p J \mathbf{F}^{-T}$, thus yielding a saddle-point problem, wherein the pressure p acts as a Lagrange multiplier.

The cardiac tissue is in fact an active material. This means that its internal stress is not uniquely identified by strain, but rather it can be produced by microscopic mechanisms that turn the chemical energy of ATP into mechanical work. The models presented in Section 4 describe these processes at the microscale and allow to obtain $T_{\rm a}$, a scalar that represents the magnitude of active force per unit area. This quantity must be related to the macroscopic balance of the momentum equation (5.1), by writing the Piola stress tensor as

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{P}^{\text{pass}} + \mathbf{P}^{\text{act}},$$

namely as the sum of a passive term (given by $\mathbf{P}^{\text{pass}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \mathbf{F}}$) and an active term \mathbf{P}^{act} which must be constitutively defined by suitably upscaling the microscopically generated stress. In particular, if we suppose that cardiac muscle fibers, aligned along \mathbf{f}_0 , generate a force per unit area of magnitude T_a , directed along the fibers' direction in the current configuration $\mathbf{f} := \mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0 / |\mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0|$, we get

(5.5)
$$\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{act}} = T_{\mathrm{a}} \frac{\mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0 \otimes \mathbf{f}_0}{|\mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0|}.$$

382

Alternative to the *active stress* approach (5.4) is the *active strain* one, wherein activation is modeled as a prescribed strain [5,6]. We only consider here the active stress approach, which is by far the most widely used in the literature.

For the mathematical well-posedness of nonlinear elasticity models, we refer interested readers to [12, 53]. Existence results require suitable hypotheses on the energy density function \mathcal{W} . The celebrated existence result by J. Ball [12], based on the notion of polyconvexity (a weaker notion than convexity) and on suitable growth and regularity conditions, is based on the direct method of calculus of variations [27]. These results, derived for passive materials, cannot be directly applied to heart mechanics, as the cardiac tissue is in fact an active material. The well-posedness of active strain models has been studied in [6], while hypotheses for the well-posedness of active stress models have been derived in [70].

6. Modeling blood circulation

The balance of momentum equation (5.1) must be supplemented with suitable boundary conditions to account for the forces acting between the myocardium and the surrounding environment. In particular, the internal surfaces of cardiac chambers (the *endocardium*) are in contact with the blood, which exerts pressure. Since the blood dynamics in the chambers is tightly related to that of the whole vascular network, it is necessary to develop models of the entire circulatory system. For this purpose, several blood circulation models, with different degrees of accuracy, have been proposed. These range from three-dimensional fluid-structure interaction (FSI) models, where the blood flow in blood vessels is described by the Navier–Stokes equations [62, 65, 87, 88, 94], to zero-dimensional models (whose variables only depend on time, but not on spatial coordinates) [65, 75].

In the latter family of models, also known as lumped parameters models, the circulatory system is split into a finite number of compartments and an average pressure is associated with each of them. Then, equations describing the dynamics of these pressure variables and of the blood volume contained in each compartment are derived by the principles of conservation of mass and momentum. Lumped parameters models may be limited to a subset of the circulatory systems [19,36], or may describe the whole closed-loop cardio-circulatory system [16,42,75]. In general terms, they are written as systems of ODEs, in the form

(6.1)
$$\frac{d\mathbf{z}_{\rm circ}}{dt} = \mathbf{\Phi}_{\rm circ} \left(\mathbf{z}_{\rm circ}, t \right),$$

where the vector $\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N_{\text{circ}}}$ collects the state variables (pressure and volumes). The right-hand side may depend on the time variable, to account for the different phases of the cardiac cycle. A concrete example of (6.1) is available in [75]. The zero-dimensional model of blood circulation (6.1) must be suitably coupled with the three-dimensional model of cardiac mechanics (see Section 5). With this aim, we require that the volume enclosed by the ventricular cavity when the domain Ω_0 is moved by the displacement \mathbf{d} (which we denote by $\mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{3\text{D}}(\mathbf{d})$) equals the one predicted by the zero-dimensional circulation model (which we denote by $\mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{0\text{D}}(\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}})$). This coupling is enforced via a Lagrange multiplier, which, in the case at hand, represents the blood pressure inside the ventricular cavity p_{LV} (more details will be provided in Section 7).

ALFIO QUARTERONI, LUCA DEDÈ, AND FRANCESCO REGAZZONI

384

An intermediate class of models for vessel circulation consists of 1D models, in which only the main direction of blood flow is explicitly represented and the equations are averaged in the orthogonal directions. The development of 1D models for blood circulation owes its origin to Leonhard Euler, back in 1775 [30]. The mathematical models of the circulatory system also need to account for the dynamics of the four cardiac valves. The latter regulate blood flow between the atria and the corresponding ventricles, between the right ventricle and the pulmonary artery, and between the left ventricle and the ascending aorta. Their sudden opening and closing is driven by the pressure gradient. The motion of cardiac valves can be described with different levels of detail, ranging from three-dimensional FSI models [61, 63] to zero-dimensional models [16]. For the sake of space, three-dimensional and one-dimensional circulation models will not be further discussed in this paper.

7. A fully coupled cardiac electromechanics model

The mathematical models discussed in Sections 3, 4, 5, and 6 describe different physical processes occurring at different spatio-temporal scales along each heartbeat, which cannot however be understood independently of one another. These are indeed connected though a complex and fascinating web of interactions, feedback loops, and self-regulation mechanisms aimed at preserving the physiological working regime of the heart and responding to external stimuli (see Figure 3). In mathematical terms, in order to describe the whole cardiac function, these models must be coupled to yield a unique system of PDEs and ODEs.

Let us consider for simplicity a single chamber, namely the left ventricle. Hence, the open connected domain $\Omega_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ represents the region of space occupied by the left ventricle at rest (e.g., at the end of the diastole). Its boundary is split into $\partial \Omega_0 = \overline{\Gamma}_0^{\text{endo}} \cup \overline{\Gamma}_0^{\text{epi}} \cup \overline{\Gamma}_0^{\text{base}}$, where Γ_0^{endo} , Γ_0^{epi} , and Γ_0^{base} are disjoint sets respectively denoting the endocardial and epicardial surfaces and the ventricular base, namely the artificial boundary located where the left ventricle geometry is



FIGURE 3. Diagram illustrating our multiphysics cardiac electromechanics model. The 3D left ventricle picture has the purpose of displaying the finite-element grid as well as the different boundary components.

cut (see Figure 3). Then, the fully coupled electromechanical problem consists in finding

(7.1)
$$\begin{aligned} v: \Omega_0 \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}, \quad \mathbf{d}: \Omega_0 \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^3, \quad \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}: \Omega_0 \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^{N_{\text{ion}}}, \\ \mathbf{z}_{\text{act}}: \Omega_0 \times [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^{N_{\text{act}}}, \quad \mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}}: [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^{N_{\text{circ}}}, \quad p_{\text{LV}}: [0,T] \to \mathbb{R} \end{aligned}$$

such that we have, in $\Omega_0 \times (0, T]$,

(7.2)
$$\begin{cases} \chi_m C_m \partial_t v - \nabla \cdot \left(J \mathbf{F}^{-1} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{F}^{-T} \nabla v \right) + \chi_m \mathscr{I}_{\text{ion}}(v, \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}) = \mathcal{I}_{\text{app}}, \\ \rho \partial_{tt} \mathbf{d} - \nabla \cdot \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{0}, \quad \mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \mathbf{F}} + T_{\text{a}}(\mathbf{z}_{\text{act}}) \frac{\mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0 \otimes \mathbf{f}_0}{|\mathbf{F} \mathbf{f}_0|}, \\ \partial_t \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}} = \mathbf{\Phi}_{\text{ion}}(v, \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}), \\ \partial_t \mathbf{z}_{\text{act}} = \mathbf{\Phi}_{\text{act}} \left(\mathbf{z}_{\text{act}}, [\text{Ca}^{2+}]_{\text{i}}(\mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}}), SL(\mathbf{d}), \partial_t SL(\mathbf{d}) \right) \end{cases}$$

with boundary conditions

(7.3)
$$\begin{cases} \left(J\mathbf{F}^{-1}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{F}^{-T}\nabla v\right)\cdot\mathbf{N} = \mathbf{0} & \text{on } \partial\Omega_{0}\times(0,T], \\ \mathbf{P}\mathbf{N} + K_{\text{epi}}\mathbf{d} + C_{\text{epi}}\partial_{t}\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{0} & \text{on } \Gamma_{0}^{\text{epi}}\times(0,T], \\ \mathbf{P}\mathbf{N} = -p_{\text{LV}}J\mathbf{F}^{-T}\mathbf{N} & \text{on } \Gamma_{0}^{\text{endo}}\times(0,T], \\ \mathbf{P}\mathbf{N} = p_{\text{LV}}|J\mathbf{F}^{-T}\mathbf{N}| \frac{\int_{\Gamma_{0}^{\text{endo}}}J\mathbf{F}^{-T}\mathbf{N}d\Gamma_{0}}{\int_{\Gamma_{0}^{\text{base}}}|J\mathbf{F}^{-T}\mathbf{N}|d\Gamma_{0}} & \text{on } \Gamma_{0}^{\text{base}}\times(0,T], \end{cases}$$

and coupled with the following equations in (0, T],

(7.4)
$$\frac{d\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{\text{circ}} \left(\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}}, p_{\text{LV}}, t \right), \qquad \mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{\text{3D}}(\mathbf{d}) = \mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{\text{0D}}(\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}})$$

with initial conditions (in $\Omega_0 \times \{0\}$)

(7.5)
$$v = v_0$$
, $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{d}_0$, $\partial_t \mathbf{d} = \mathbf{0}$, $\mathbf{z}_{\text{ion}} = \mathbf{z}_{\text{ion},0}$, $\mathbf{z}_{\text{act}} = \mathbf{z}_{\text{act},0}$, $\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}} = \mathbf{z}_{\text{circ},0}$.

We remark that the displacement of the myocardium (encoded in the variable \mathbf{d}) affects the conductivity properties of the tissue (thanks to the so-called *mechano-electrical feedback*), for which (3.3) is rephrased in the deformed configuration, as the tensor

(7.6)
$$\mathbf{D} = \sigma_f \frac{\mathbf{F}\mathbf{f}_0 \otimes \mathbf{F}\mathbf{f}_0}{|\mathbf{F}\mathbf{f}_0|^2} + \sigma_s \frac{\mathbf{F}\mathbf{s}_0 \otimes \mathbf{F}\mathbf{s}_0}{|\mathbf{F}\mathbf{s}_0|^2} + \sigma_n \frac{\mathbf{F}\mathbf{n}_0 \otimes \mathbf{F}\mathbf{n}_0}{|\mathbf{F}\mathbf{n}_0|^2},$$

namely the pullback of the conductivity tensor in the reference configuration Ω_0 is replaced into (3.2).

The state variable of the ionic model (i.e., \mathbf{z}_{ion}) provides the value of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ at each point of the computational domain and at each time t, which is an input for the force generation model to be solved at each point in Ω_0 . To provide the missing input to the latter model, namely the sarcomere length and its time derivative, we observe that the elongation of sarcomeres can be obtained as $SL(\mathbf{d}) = SL_0|\mathbf{Ff}_0|$, where SL_0 is the reference sarcomere length.

On its turn, the state variable of the force generation model (i.e., \mathbf{z}_{act}) provides the magnitude of T_a , the active force generated at a given point of Ω_0 and at a given time $t \in [0, T]$, which is employed within the equation describing the mechanics of the myocardium. The associated boundary conditions model the interaction of the cardiac tissue with the surrounding tissue. Specifically, the boundary condition imposed on Γ_0^{epi} encodes an elastic (K_{epi}) and viscous (C_{epi}) interaction with the pericardium, a thin membrane enclosing the heart [36]. Conversely, the boundary condition enforced on Γ_0^{endo} models the stress exerted by the blood contained in the cavity, whose pressure—tracked by the variable p_{LV} —is assumed to be constant in space. The variable p_{LV} acts in fact as a Lagrange multiplier, enforcing the geometrical compatibility condition $\mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{3\text{D}}(\mathbf{d}) = \mathcal{V}_{\text{LV}}^{0\text{D}}(\mathbf{z}_{\text{circ}})$ at each time $t \in (0, T]$. Finally, the boundary condition imposed on Γ_0^{base} —known as *energy-consistent boundary condition*—accounts for the stress exerted by the upper portion of the heart (that we have deliberately disregarded for the sake of simplicity) on Ω_0 , consistently with the principles of energy conservation (see [73] for a thorough derivation). We remark that different sets of boundary conditions, representing different means of interaction with the surrounding tissue, could be considered [36, 73].

Despite the large amount of work on cardiac electromechanical models, there are still many open questions about the mathematical well-posedness of these systems of equations. In [60] the authors studied the existence of solutions for the fully coupled electromechanical model, considering different kinds of mechano-electrical feedback in an active stress setting. Concerning the active strain setting, instead, in [7], the authors proved existence of weak solutions and uniqueness of regular solutions for a simplified electromechanical model, where the nonlinear elastic model is linearized and where the FitzHugh–Nagumo ionic model [54] is employed. In [15] these results have been generalized to the more realistic Beeler–Reuter [14] and Luo–Rudy [52] ionic models. The latter results are based on the Faedo–Galerkin method and compactness arguments. (A similar approach, named the Galerkin method, stands also at the basis of the numerical approximation and will be outlined in Section 9.)

Part 2. Numerical approximation

8. Why should we turn to numerical approximation

The electromechanical model (7.1)-(7.5) is in principle able to encode the EM heart function. As a matter of fact, reality is more complex than that. Indeed, (7.1)-(7.5) has been proposed for the left ventricle. A model with a similar mathematical structure can be derived for the right ventricle, as well as for each one of the two atria. The complete EM model would require using different constitutive laws for the atria (their tissue is much thinner than in ventricles), accounting for the electrical signal activation (from the sino-atrial node to the sino-ventricular one, then spreading through the whole myocardium), and coupling the four chambers together; see [65]. In this work, we focus only on the left ventricle model (7.1)-(7.5), as the associated mathematical considerations will highlight what is relevant for the complete model too.

There are a few other issues that need to be addressed, though. This is precisely where applied mathematicians must put their hands into the "real matter": How do we generate nonhomogeneous boundary data? How do we provide an initial state to our system (i.e., initial data for our initial boundary value problem)? How do we prescribe a patient-specific problem's coefficients (like fibers orientation) without subjecting a patient to unnecessary expensive and invasive clinical exams and measurements? Here is where we must depart from the beauty and lightness of PDE theory where problems are invariably formulated under the following incipit: "Let us consider the following PDE with regular enough boundary conditions given by (some Dirichlet or Neumann data) and initial conditions (some suitable initial functions)". As a matter of fact, boundary and initial functions are often missing for a living system, and even when available they are often incomplete and discrete (that is available only at few selected points) their "regularity" is hard to attribute, actually it might not even be appropriate to talk about functional spaces for boundary or initial data. In practice, this shortcoming (a troublesome issue) is overcome by resorting to suitable mathematical procedures aimed at providing part of the missing data "coherently" with the original physical problem. See for instance [65] and [69]. See also Sections 11 and 13 where some of these issues will be addressed in the context of our numerical simulations.

From a theoretical standpoint, the first and foremost question we should address is whether (7.1)–(7.5) is well-posed. To our knowledge, a rigorous existence and uniqueness theorem, under realistic assumptions on boundary data, initial conditions, and the problem's coefficients, is not provable as yet. Partial results do exist concerning the electrophysiology subproblem (3.2) with suitable boundary conditions [34, 93], as well as for the passive mechanics problem (5.1) under suitable boundary conditions [12, 27]. See [7, 15, 60] for existence results on the coupled electromechanical model under simplifying assumptions. This may raise questions about the actual solvability of problem (7.1)–(7.5) and suggests a cautious attitude to mathematicians. On the other side, if we are confident—based on the derivation of (7.1)–(7.5) from physics first principles and from biophysically motivated assumptions—that this model represents a faithful description of the reality, then reality suggests to us that "a solution" should exist, and is unique, under physiological (living) conditions. The above heuristic considerations prompt us to try to find numerical solutions (exact, analytic solutions in closed form are impossible to obtain, unless under severe, unrealistic simplistic assumptions).

Generally speaking, the approximation of an initial boundary value problem (IBVP) (either scalar, or vectorial, as the case of (7.1)-(7.5)) can be operated following different strategies. To avoid unnecessary (and lengthy) generalization, here we will stick with sequential approximations, first in space and next in time (simultaneous space-time approximations can be pursued as well).

9. Space discretization

Space approximation has the aim of reducing the given IBVP to a system of ODEs (i.e., an IVP). This again can be operated according to many different paradigms. Here we will use the Galerkin method that consists in projecting the weak (variational) formulation of our IBVP at every time t into a finite dimensional subspace of the (Sobolev) space, say V, to which the exact (weak) solution belongs. More specifically we will use the Galerkin finite element (FE) method for which the finite-dimensional space, say V_h , is made of piecewise polynomial functions (either continuous or discontinuous) on a partition of the computational domain into simplexes (triangles in 2D, tetrahedra in 3D); see, e.g., [22, 68]. The subindex h denotes the characteristic diameter of the simplexes: the smaller the h, the finer the FE partition, the higher the dimension, say N_h , of the vector space V_h , the more accurate (in principle) the numerical solution. Accordingly, we will denote by $y_h(\mathbf{X}, t)$ the FE approximation of the solution $y(\mathbf{X}, t)$ of the IBVP. By suitably defining a basis of the vector space V_h , say $\{\varphi_i\}_{i=1}^{N_h}$, the numerical solution is expressed as a linear combination of this basis through N_h (unknown) coefficients that depend on the time variable t, that is to say $y_h(\mathbf{X}, t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N_h} \varphi_i(\mathbf{X}) y_{i,h}(t)$, where $\mathbf{y}(t) = (y_{1,h}(t), \dots, y_{N_h,h}(t))^T \in \mathbb{R}^{N_h}$ for all $t \in [0, T]$. By computing the result of this projection against the N_h basis functions, after simple algebraic manipulation we end up with a system of N_h differential equations for the unknown coefficients, known as the *semidiscretized problem*,

(9.1)
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{M} \frac{d\mathbf{y}}{dt}(t) + \mathcal{A} \mathbf{y}(t) + \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{y}(t)) = \mathbf{f}(t) & \text{ in } (0, T], \\ \mathbf{y}(0) = \mathbf{y}_0, \end{cases}$$

where $\mathcal{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{N_h \times N_h}$, $\mathcal{M} \in \mathbb{R}^{N_h \times N_h}$, and $\mathbf{F} : \mathbb{R}^{N_h} \to \mathbb{R}^{N_h}$ are three operators corresponding to the linear, mass, and nonlinear terms of the IBVP, respectively.

We recall that the electromechanical model considered in this paper is in fact a multiphysics problem, being made of several subproblems coupled together to form problem (7.1)-(7.5). In this setting, the semidiscretized problem (9.1) is still valid, provided that the unknowns vector **y** collects the coefficients associated with the FE discretization of all the unknowns of problem (7.1)-(7.5).

10. TIME DISCRETIZATION

At this stage we need to perform a further approximation: the time-derivatives are discretized using suitable differential quotients (i.e., Taylor developments), after having introduced a suitable discretization of the time interval into subintervals of (say, uniform) length Δt . The smaller Δt , the finer the time interval partition, the more accurate (with respect to Δt) the expected solution. The result is a system of N_h nonlinear algebraic equations that need to be solved at every time step.

Let us partition for simplicity the time interval [0,T] in N_t time instances $t^n = n \Delta t$, for $n = 0, \ldots, N_t$, where the time step size is $\Delta t = \frac{T}{N_t}$. We indicate with $\mathbf{y}^n = (y_{1,h}^n, \ldots, y_{N_h,h}^n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^{N_h}$ the approximation of $\mathbf{y}(t^n)$ for all $n = 0, \ldots, N_t$; in this manner, the combined FE and time discretizations applied to y will yield the approximation $y(t^n) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N_h} \varphi_i y_{i,h}^n$. By way of example, let us consider first-order accurate backward differentiation formulas (BDF)—a family of multistep methods for the approximation of ODEs (see [67])—by starting from the semidiscrete problem (9.1). This yields to a sequence of algebraic problems in the unknowns \mathbf{y}^n for $n = 0, \ldots, N_t$:

$$\begin{cases} \overset{(10.1)}{\underline{\Delta t}} \mathcal{M} \mathbf{y}^{n+1} + \mathcal{A} \mathbf{y}^{n+1} + \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{y}^{n+1}) = \frac{1}{\underline{\Delta t}} \mathcal{M} \mathbf{y}^n + \mathbf{f}(t^{n+1}) & \text{for } n = 0, \dots, N_t - 1, \\ \mathbf{y}^0 = \mathbf{y}_0. \end{cases}$$

At this stage we recall that in the case of multiphysics coupled problems, the unknown vector \mathbf{y} collects the coefficients associated with several functions, related to different physical entities and to different differential operators. In this setting, the time discretization considered above (see (10.1)) represents an example of the so-called *monolithic approach*, as the semidiscrete problem (9.1) is discretized in time as a unique monolithic system, disregarding the underlying separation in different core models; see, e.g., [36]. The monolithic approach, however, is not the only possible one in the context of coupled problems. Alternative approaches are based on the so-called operator splitting strategy: if an IBVP is governed by an operator, say L, that is the sum of two (or several) operators, say L_1 and L_2 , the operator splitting strategy consists in advancing sequentially the single operators L_i from one time-step to the next one. Different algorithms are of course available to accomplish

this strategy; see, e.g., [20]. The net result is that at any given step of the algorithm only one operator is dealt with at a time. Framing this in a different terminology, operator splitting techniques allow us to split a multiphysics (coupled) problem into a sequence of subproblems, each one dealing with a single type of physics (that is with a single core mathematical model).

The numerical solution of every subproblem allows us to lower the computational complexity inherent to the monolithic approach; see, e.g., [28]. Moreover, different time and spatial scales can be more easily accommodated in an operator splitting context, by operating ad hoc choices of FE subspaces, spatial partitions of computational domains, temporal discretizations ([82]). However, operator splitting methods can sometimes require a more severe restriction on the time step to ensure stability, and they invariably introduce a further error with respect to Δt , called a splitting error. The choice between monolithic methods and operator splitting methods heavily depends on the IBVP at hand, its multiscale nature, the way solutions depend on data, and the availability of suitable numerical arsenal to face the solution of the whole problem using a monolithic approach. As a matter of fact, when using monolithic methods, one faces a potentially gigantic nonlinear algebraic system that is severely ill conditioned—a concept crucial in numerical analysis that, roughly speaking, expresses the way roundoff errors due to inexact machine arithmetic propagate all along the solution process. Ill-conditioning—that can be quantified through the ratio between the largest and smallest moduli of the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrices of the nonlinear algebraic systems—can be cured by preconditioning strategies, i.e., by a suitable scaling of the differential operators to be implemented at the algebraic level on the Jacobian matrices. Preconditioning, in its turn, calls for scalable algorithms, i.e., the realization of preconditioning (scaling) matrices whose associated linear systems can be solved on parallel computer architectures by a full exploitation of the parallelism [38,91].

From a mathematical standpoint, several questions are in order. How should we choose our FE spaces and our temporal discretizations in order for our fully discrete nonlinear algebraic system to be nonsingular. And what about solution uniqueness? Moreover, in case we have ensured a unique solution, is it stable with respect to coefficients and data perturbations, uniformly with respect to both Δt and h, in suitable Sobolev norms? Furthermore, with respect to the same norms, is it convergent to the exact (weak) solution when both Δt and h tend to zero? And if so, which are the convergence rates with respect to Δt and h? Proving these results requires sophisticated arguments of functional analysis, a priori estimates for the original IBVP, theoretical estimates for piecewise polynomial (FE) approximations in Sobolev norms [64, 68].

Error estimates with precise convergence rates are important (whenever possible) to drive the choice of the FE partition in space and the discretization of the time interval to ensure the desired level of accuracy with the least computational effort. Indeed, the tradeoff is always the one between improving the accuracy and lowering the computational complexity. Roughly speaking, the latter is measured in terms of the size of the nonlinear algebraic systems and the computational time needed for the determination of the numerical solution. In this respect, a crucial decision is whether the given IBVP (7.1)-(7.5) is approximated as a whole (monolithically) or by segregating the mechanical model from the electrophysiology one.

Part 3. Numerical solution

11. NUMERICAL RESULTS FOR CARDIAC ELECTROMECHANICS

We present numerical solutions of the electromechanical problem (7.1)-(7.5) obtained by a FE discretization in space and a segregated scheme in time. Further details on the numerical schemes can be found in [76]. This numerical algorithm has been implemented in life^x (https://lifex.gitlab.io/lifex), a high-performance C++ library developed within the iHEART project.² To meet the significant demand of computational resources associated to the numerical approximation of this multiscale and multiphysics problem, we rely on the high-performance computing resources available at MOX, Politecnico di Milano (48 Intel Xeon ES-2640 CPUs), thanks to the parallel implementation of the life^x code.

11.1. Convergence analysis in space. As mentioned above, an essential property of a numerical method is *convergence*, that is the ability of the method to produce a numerical solution arbitrarily close to the exact one, provided sufficiently fine discretization parameters (h and Δt) are used. For many of the numerical methods known in the literature, it is also possible to find a convergence estimate, i.e., an upper bound on the error as a function of the discretization parameters. After a numerical method is implemented in a software code, the following test is often performed. One considers a problem for which an exact solution is known (typically on a simple geometry and for suitable data) and solves the numerical problem many times, by progressively refining the discretization parameters. Afterwards, the errors with respect to the exact solution are computed and the error trend is plotted on a graph, in comparison with the theoretical trend. This analysis is an example of so-called numerical verification. Its purpose is twofold: on the one hand it verifies that the implementation is bug free, on the other hand it validates the theoretical result.

The complexity of the models underlying the coupled problem of cardiac electromechanics is such that an exact solution is never known, even in the simplest cases. Nevertheless, a numerical verification of convergence can be done in the following way. We consider a sequence (indexed by k = 0, 1, ...) of refinements of the space-discretization parameter h, defined by $h_k = \alpha^k h_0$, for a suitable reduction factor $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. Let \mathbf{u}_h denote the numerical solution associated with h, and let us suppose that a numerical method has convergence order p. This means that, for $h \to 0^+$, we have $\mathbf{u}_h = \mathbf{u}_{ex} + \mathbf{c}h^p + o(h^p)$, where \mathbf{u}_{ex} is the exact solution and where $\mathbf{c} = \frac{d}{d(h^p)}\mathbf{u}_h$. Hence, the difference between the numerical solutions obtained for two consecutive refinements of h asymptotically decreases according to the estimate

$$\mathbf{u}_{h_{k+1}} - \mathbf{u}_{h_k} \simeq \mathbf{c} \left(h_{k+1}^p - h_k^p \right) = \mathbf{c} h_0^p \left(\alpha^p - 1 \right) \alpha^{kp}.$$

This entails that the logarithm of the norm of the solution increment from step k to step k + 1 is an affine function of k:

(11.1)
$$\log \|\mathbf{u}_{h_{k+1}} - \mathbf{u}_{h_k}\| \simeq \log \left(\|\mathbf{c}\| h_0^p (1 - \alpha^p)\right) + kp \log \alpha.$$

In conclusion, plotting the increment norms $\|\mathbf{u}_{h_{k+1}} - \mathbf{u}_{h_k}\|$ in a semilogarithmic plane, we expect a line with slope equal to the product between the convergence order p and the reduction factor α .

²iHEART—An Integrated Heart Model for the simulation of the cardiac function, European Research Council (ERC) grant agreement No 740132, P.I., A. Quarteroni.



FIGURE 4. Time evolution of the maximum displacement obtained for the slab problem for progressively refined computational meshes. The mesh size h follows the rule $h_k = \alpha^k h_0$, where $h_0 = 1 \text{ mm}, \alpha = 2^{-1/3}$ and where the index k is reported in the legend. In the left bottom corner, an enlargement of the curves is shown.

Returning to the specific case of cardiac electromechanics, let us consider a tissue slab, that is a parallelepiped with dimensions $10 \times 10 \times 3$ mm, with fibers and sheets oriented as the x and y axis, respectively. We stimulate the tissue by applying a Gaussian impulse in a corner of the domain, so that an electrical impulse travels through the slab and makes it contract. Because of the different geometry than the one considered for (7.1)–(7.5), we have to adapt the boundary conditions of the mechanical subproblem. Specifically, we anchor the displacement of the tissue on one of the two vertical faces orthogonal to \mathbf{f}_0 by setting a homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition on the displacement (i.e., $\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{0}$), we set the epicardial boundary conditions of (7.3) on the remaining vertical faces, while we leave the horizontal faces unloaded (homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions, i.e., $\mathbf{PN} = \mathbf{0}$).

We fix $\Delta t = 1 \times 10^{-4}$ s, and, starting from $h_0 = 1$ mm, we progressively reduce h by twelve refinements with a factor $\alpha = 2^{-1/3}$, so that h is halved every three refinements. For each value of k, we numerically approximate the solution of (7.1)–(7.5) with piecewise linear finite elements and with a fully segregated scheme. In practice, when performing the numerical convergence study, one typically focuses on some quantity of interest (QoI). In the current case, we focus on the maximum displacement of the surface opposite the slab anchoring. The time evolution of this QoI is an index determined by all the processes involved in the model, being the result of the propagation of the electrical signal, the consequent generation of force, and finally of the elastic response of the tissue. In Figure 4 we show the time evolution of the QoI numerically obtained for k ranging between 0 and 12. As expected, the curves visually converge towards a limit curve.

In Figure 5 we plot both the $L^{\infty}(0,T)$ (i.e., the maximum increment in the time window) and the $L^{2}(0,T)$ norm of the increments between consecutive curves as function of k. We verify in this manner that the QoI converges with order one:



FIGURE 5. Norms of the solution increments between consecutive refinements as function of k. The dashed line has the theoretical slope $\log(\alpha)$.

indeed, the curves shown in Figure 5 for both the norms follow the same behavior of the reference dashed line with slope equal to $\log(\alpha)$.

11.2. Left ventricle electromechanics. We now turn to an electromechanical simulation in a realistic geometry. We consider a computational domain derived from the Zygote heart model [2], representing that of an average 21-year-old healthy caucasian man. The computational mesh is represented in Figure 3. It is made of $346 \cdot 10^3$ vertices. Since each vertex corresponds to 24 unknowns, the discretized problem features more than 8 million unknowns for each time step. We discretize the time interval (0, 0.8 s] with a time step size $\Delta t = 2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}$. The fibers, sheets and cross-fibers directions (\mathbf{f}_0 , \mathbf{s}_0 , and \mathbf{n}_0), represented in Figure 6, are generated by exploiting the algorithm proposed in [13].

To trigger the propagation of the electrical potential, we apply an electric stimulus \mathcal{I}_{app} in three spherical regions located in the endocardium to mimic the action of the Purkinje fibers. This originates a traveling wave that quickly covers the whole ventricle. Figure 7 shows the variable describing the intracellular calcium concentration $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ at different times. An output of the simulation which is commonly used in clinical applications is shown in Figure 8, that is the so-called activation time. It corresponds to the time delay from trigger of the stimulus and the time when the action potential wave reaches a given point of the domain Ω_0 . More precisely, it is defined as the time corresponding the steepest growth of transmural potential (i.e., $t_{act}(t, \mathbf{x}) = \arg \max_{t \in [0,T]} \partial_t u(t, \mathbf{x})$).

The increase of calcium concentration represented in Figure 7 triggers the microscopic mechanisms of active force generation. As a consequence, the active tension T_a increases significantly and the ventricle contracts. Figure 9 depicts the values of T_a at different times and the corresponding mechanical deformation of the ventricle. The contracting ventricle features a characteristic twisting movement, which is to



FIGURE 6. Representation of the fibers, sheets, and cross-fibers directions f_0 , s_0 , and n_0 .



FIGURE 7. Representation of the variable $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (intracellular calcium concentration) in the domain Ω_0 at different times t.

be ascribed to the presence of fibers (see Figure 6), accompanied by a thickening of the cardiac wall.

12. Towards clinical applications

As of 2016, cardiovascular diseases stand as the leading cause of death in the world [1], with nearly 18 million individuals deceased, 85% of which are due to heart



FIGURE 8. Representation of the activation time. From left to right: lateral view, top view, frontal view with a cut in the domain.

attack and stroke. Still, recent advancements in clinical practice are steadily improving patients' conditions and the treatment of cardiac diseases. In this context, mathematical and numerical modeling are increasingly playing a role by providing medical doctors and clinicians with valuable diagnostic and predictive tools for virtually exploring therapeutic scenarios or even planning surgical interventions. We are actually experiencing the emergence of a new discipline known as *computational medicine*, the meeting point of mathematics, scientific computing, data science, engineering, and medicine.

Using integrated cardiac or electromechanics modeling to address clinical questions is still at the outset of computational medicine, due to the relative complexity and novelty of these models. Exploiting instead a few core models is becoming more customary in recent years, as it is occurring for cardiac electrophysiology to deal with electric dysfunctions; see, e.g., [9]. We report on the following two examples of clinical applications being addressed by the iHEART team at Politecnico di Milano.

In collaboration with the Arrhythmology and Cardiac Electrophysiology Unit of IRCCS San Raffaele Hospital in Milan (Italy), we investigated factors that favor triggering and sustenance of arrhythmias, as for example ventricular tachycardia. Indeed, structural abnormalities of the tissue that can be modeled as localized alterations of the electrical conductivities σ_f , σ_s , and σ_n in (3.3), generated by an episode of acute myocardial infarction, can create conditions for triggering a re-entry circuit near the scar area. Along this circuit, the electric impulse can continually reactivate the ventricles in an accelerated and uncontrolled manner, in some cases leading to sudden cardiac arrest, a fatal condition if not immediately treated. Conventional therapy consists of an electrophysiological study with catheter ablation, an invasive clinical procedure that identifies and eliminates those channels—called isthmuses—that sustain the circuits. A similar procedure allows the treatment of atrial fibrillation, a disorganization of the electric signal in the left atrium, which can be linked to progressive tissue damage. The numerical simulation of cardiac arrhythmias is very challenging: the electric potential exhibits a complex pattern with spiral waves or along re-entry circuits, unlike the ordered propagation typical of normal pacing. We performed numerical simulations of instability mechanisms, which are capable of generating ventricular tachycardia and atrial fibrillation, in the presence of heterogeneity in the tissue [35]. These, in combination with electrical measurements on the patient, could help in identifying the channels at the base of the re-entry circuits, and, possibly in the near future, to improve ablative procedures.



FIGURE 9. Representation of the variable $T_{\rm a}$ (active tension) in the domain $\Omega(t)$ at different times t. The deformed domain $\Omega(t)$ is obtained from the reference domain Ω_0 (which is represented in transparency) by deforming the latter according to the displacement $\mathbf{d}(t)$. The first row shows a frontal view; the second row shows a vertical cut of the domain, with three slices that display the solution inside the domain; the third row shows the top view with a vertical cut in the domain.

In collaboration with the Cardiology and Radiology Departments of S. Maria del Carmine Hospital in Rovereto (Trento, Italy), our team has taken the first steps towards the optimization of the cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT). CRT consists in implanting a device capable of restoring the correct pacing after the synchronous heartbeat has been compromised by conduction disturbances or tissue scars. A mapping of the coronary veins of the left ventricle is carried out by inserting a catheter–electrode through the blood vessels to detect electrical activity. This mapping serves to identify the point of later activation wherein the left electrode of the CRT is positioned. Our research team has developed a computational pipeline to reduce the duration of this invasive clinical procedure and to calculate the point of later activation by enabling a deeper exploration aside the points mapped by the catheter [84].

In the papers previously mentioned, a few validation results are reported by comparing some specific outputs provided by the numerical models with corresponding indicators or biomarkers collected in a clinical environment. For the sake of brevity, in this paper we do not deal with the topic of validation, which is, nonetheless, a step of utmost importance for a clinical exploitation of such computational tools.

13. Conclusions and a look ahead

So far we have limited ourselves to studying the *direct (forward) problem*, namely problem (7.1)-(7.5), and to showing how its solution can be approximated in an input-output framework. Actually, many topics have remained in the background, even if they are fundamental in facing a problem of such complexity. Major challenges facing cardiac modeling include parameter inference from uncertain experimental measurements, model personalization to patient data, model selection, model discrepancy from reality, and the way these factors affect the confidence in model prediction. Two kinds of uncertainties are usually considered: Epistemic uncertainty is due to either lack of knowledge (e.g., a quantity or a coefficient that was not possible to measure) or experimental errors (e.g., a quantity that was not correctly measured). Aleatory uncertainty is instead due to stochasticity (e.g., every individual reacts differently each time, which represents an intrinsic kind of uncertainty) or to variability between individuals (every individual behaves differently than everyone else, which is an extrinsic uncertainty).

Epistemic uncertainty can be addressed by uncertainty quantification (UQ) mathematical techniques. We distinguish between *forward UQ*, which deals with the propagation of the uncertainty on the parameters on the outputs of the model, and *backward UQ*, which studies how the measurement errors on the outputs affect the estimation of the parameters.

Aleatory and epistemic uncertainty can be faced in the framework of *reduced* order models (ROM). ROM can in fact be used with multiple purposes. A canonical usage is to allow the simultaneous approximation of the whole solution manifold of a boundary value problem (but it could be as well an IVP or an IBVP) that is made of the set of solutions corresponding to the whole range of parameters (or coefficients) that characterize the given boundary value problem. In abstract terms, using for the sake of readability an algebraic standpoint, let us denote by $\mathbf{y}(t; \mu)$ the solution of a time-dependent nonlinear problem ($\mu \in P \subset \mathbb{R}^p$ denotes a set of input parameters) of the form

(13.1)
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{M}(\mu) \frac{d\mathbf{y}}{dt}(t,\mu) + \mathcal{A}(\mu) \mathbf{y}(t;\mu) + \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{y}(t;\mu);\mu) = \mathbf{f}(t;\mu) & \text{in } (0,T], \\ \mathbf{y}(0;\mu) = \mathbf{y}_0(\mu), \end{cases}$$

deriving, e.g., from the finite-element discretization of a parametrized IBVP (similar to (9.1)).

The dimensional reduction is made possible by exploiting the parametric dependence of the solution manifold, that is, the set $M_h = \{\mathbf{y}(t; \mu) : t \in (0, T], \mu \in P\}$, thanks to the evaluation of a database of solutions, or snapshots, for selected parameter values, and to a Galerkin projection onto the finite-dimensional space spanned by a set of selected basis functions. These basis functions can be selected either through a greedy approach or by means of proper orthogonal decomposition (POD): in the case of a stationary problem, the basis functions are the snapshots themselves if a greedy algorithm is used, or else the first singular vectors of the snapshot matrix if POD is used; see, e.g., [23, 41, 66]. One possible ROM approximation of(13.1) might be

(13.2)

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{M}_{N}(\mu) \frac{d\mathbf{y}_{N}}{dt}(t,\mu) + \mathcal{A}_{N}(\mu) \,\mathbf{y}_{N}(t;\mu) + W_{N}^{T} \,\mathbf{F}(W_{N} \,\mathbf{y}_{N}(t;\mu);\mu) = \mathbf{f}_{N}(t;\mu) \\ & \text{in } (0,T], \\ \mathbf{y}_{N}(0;\mu) = \mathbf{y}_{N,0}(\mu), \end{cases}$$

where $\mathcal{M}_N(\mu) = W_N^T \mathcal{M}(\mu) W_N$, $\mathcal{A}_N(\mu) = W_N^T \mathcal{A}(\mu) W_N$, and $\mathbf{f}_N(\mu) = W_N^T \mathbf{f}(t;\mu)$, and W_N is a rectangular matrix whose columns encode the snapshot solutions. For time-dependent problems, the parameter space can still be sampled by one of the two techniques mentioned, whereas POD is usually exploited to reduce trajectories of the system over the time interval. In mathematical terms, the solution manifold is approximated by a linear subspace V_N generated by a handful of $N \ll N_h$ (snapshot) basis functions corresponding to a wise choice of N representative parameters. These basis functions are computed offline by solving N finite-element problems, each one consisting of a large number (N_h) of equations. This heavy computational task can however be computed once and for all (offline). Then, for every new value of the parameter μ (say, μ_{new}), the corresponding solution u_{new} is obtained by solving a Galerkin problem of reduced size N in the reduced subspace V_N . This online computation is generally very cheap (thanks to the small size of the reduced subspace) and is carried out online. Thanks to this very distinguishing feature, ROM enable the solution in "real time" of large FE problems, allowing us therefore to cultivate the dream of a real-time interaction between mathematicians and clinicians.

Needless to say, many mathematical and numerical issues need to be addressed in order to make the previous strategy theoretically rigorous and computationally efficient. From a theoretical standpoint, the original IBVP should be *reducible*: this means that it should be possible to accurately approximate its solution manifold by a single linear subspace of (low) dimension N. This property, which depends on the regularity of the solution manifold $M_h \in V$ with respect to the parameter variations, can be assessed by investigating the so-called *Kolmogorov N-width*, that is the minimum distance (in a suitable Sobolev norm) of an arbitrary element of the manifold from linear subspaces of dimension N:

$$d_N(M_h, V) = \inf_{\substack{V_N \subset V\\\dim V_N = N}} \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in M_h} \inf_{\mathbf{y}_N \in V_N} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{y}_N\|_V.$$

For ample classes of boundary value problems, the Kolmogorov N-width (KNW) decreases exponentially fast with respect to N. In those less benign cases where the KNW is much slower to decrease with respect to N, nonlinear approximation ROM techniques can be set up. In this case the solution manifold is approximated by a set of local linear subspaces that better exploit the local (nonuniform) regularity properties of the solution manifold [23,41,66].

From the computational viewpoint, efficiency relies on the possibility of using an offline-online computational splitting, where the online phase requires computational time depending only on the reduced dimension N and not on the full-order dimension N_h (this property will enable real-time simulations). Precisely, the arrays appearing in (13.2) can be efficiently assembled in a rapid online phase by combining parameter-independent quantities stored during a more expensive offline phase, provided that the dependence of the high-fidelity arrays, such as $A(\mu)$ and $\mathbf{f}(t;\mu)$, is affine.

When this is not the case, or at any rate when the original problem is nonlinear, further approximations should be operated, and extra reduced spaces should be used to independently approximate the nonlinear terms. This procedure is sometimes called hyper-reduction [31] and should obviously be accompanied by extra investigation on the corresponding approximation properties of the hyper-reduced solution.

About the authors

Alfio Quarteroni is professor of numerical analysis at Politecnico di Milano and professor emeritus of École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland. He has authored 25 books and over 400 papers in international scientific journals and conference proceedings; he is editor in chief of two book series published by Springer. He received many awards and honors in recognition of his work, and is a member of the Italian Academy of Science, the European Academy of Science, and the Academia Europaea. His research interests include mathematical modelling and its applications to fluid mechanics, geophysics, medicine, and the improvement of sports performance.

Luca Dedè is professor in numerical analysis at Politecnico di Milano. His research involves the development of efficient and accurate numerical methods for the approximation of partial differential equations, multiphysics, and multiscale problems, as well as problems in computational fluid dynamics and computational medicine.

Francesco Regazzoni is junior researcher at Politecnico di Milano. His research interests cover the mathematical modeling and numerical approximation of multiscale problems, as well as the combination of machine learning with numerical analysis and reduced order modeling.

References

- World Health Organization (2017). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs)., https://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds), visited on 12/05/2020.
- [2] Zygote 3D models, https://www.zygote.com, 2019.
- [3] R. A. Adams and J. J. F. Fournier, Sobolev spaces, 2nd ed., Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam), vol. 140, Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2003. MR2424078
- [4] R. R. Aliev and A. V. Panfilov, A simple two-variable model of cardiac excitation, Chaos, Solitons & Fractals 7 (1996), no. 3, 293–301.
- [5] D. Ambrosi, G. Arioli, F. Nobile, and A. Quarteroni, *Electromechanical coupling in cardiac dynamics: the active strain approach*, SIAM J. Appl. Math. **71** (2011), no. 2, 605–621, DOI 10.1137/100788379. MR2788339
- [6] D. Ambrosi and S. Pezzuto, Active stress vs. active strain in mechanobiology: constitutive issues, J. Elasticity 107 (2012), no. 2, 199–212, DOI 10.1007/s10659-011-9351-4. MR2899010

- [7] B. Andreianov, M. Bendahmane, A. Quarteroni, and R. Ruiz-Baier, Solvability analysis and numerical approximation of linearized cardiac electromechanics, Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 25 (2015), no. 5, 959–993, DOI 10.1142/S0218202515500244. MR3319342
- S. S. Antman, Nonlinear problems of elasticity, Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 107, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4757-4147-6. MR1323857
- [9] H. Arevalo, F. Vadakkumpadan, E. Guallar, A. Jebb, P. Malamas, K. C. Wu, and N. A. Trayanova, Arrhythmia risk stratification of patients after myocardial infarction using personalized heart models, Nature Communications 7 (2016), no. 11437.
- [10] C. M. Augustin, A. Neic, M. Liebmann, A. J. Prassl, S. A. Niederer, G. Haase, and G. Plank, Anatomically accurate high resolution modeling of human whole heart electromechanics: a strongly scalable algebraic multigrid solver method for nonlinear deformation, J. Comput. Phys. **305** (2016), 622–646, DOI 10.1016/j.jcp.2015.10.045. MR3429598
- [11] B. Baillargeon, N. Rebelo, D. D. Fox, R. L. Taylor, and E. Kuhl, *The living heart project: a robust and integrative simulator for human heart function*, Eur. J. Mech. A Solids 48 (2014), 38–47, DOI 10.1016/j.euromechsol.2014.04.001. MR3258230
- [12] J. M. Ball, Convexity conditions and existence theorems in nonlinear elasticity, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 63 (1976/77), no. 4, 337–403, DOI 10.1007/BF00279992. MR475169
- [13] J. D. Bayer, R. C. Blake, G. Plank, and N. A. Trayanova, A novel rule-based algorithm for assigning myocardial fiber orientation to computational heart models, Annals of Biomedical Engineering 40 (2012), no. 10, 2243–2254.
- [14] G. W. Beeler and H. Reuter, Reconstruction of the action potential of ventricular myocardial fibres, The Journal of Physiology 268 (1977), no. 1, 177–210.
- [15] M. Bendahmane, F. Mroue, M. Saad, and R. Talhouk, Mathematical analysis of cardiac electromechanics with physiological ionic model, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 24 (2019), no. 9, 4863–4897, DOI 10.3934/dcdsb.2019035. MR3986224
- [16] P. J. Blanco and R. A. Feijóo, A 3D-1D-0D computational model for the entire cardiovascular system, Computational Mechanics 24 (2010), 5887–5911.
- [17] M. Boulakia, S. Cazeau, M. A. Fernández, J.-F. Gerbeau, and N. Zemzemi, *Mathemati-cal modeling of electrocardiograms: a numerical study*, Annals of biomedical engineering **38** (2010), no. 3, 1071–1097.
- [18] S. G. Campbell, F. V. Lionetti, K. S. Campbell, and A. D. McCulloch, Coupling of adjacent tropomyosins enhances cross-bridge-mediated cooperative activation in a markov model of the cardiac thin filament, Biophysical Journal 98 (2010), no. 10, 2254–2264.
- [19] M. Caruel, R. Chabiniok, P. Moireau, Y. Lecarpentier, and D. Chapelle, *Dimensional reduc*tions of a cardiac model for effective validation and calibration, Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology 13 (2014), no. 4, 897–914.
- [20] J. Cervi and R. J. Spiteri, A comparison of fourth-order operator splitting methods for cardiac simulations, Appl. Numer. Math. 145 (2019), 227–235, DOI 10.1016/j.apnum.2019.06.002. MR3973170
- [21] R. Chabiniok, V. Y. Wang, M. Hadjicharalambous, L. Asner, J. Lee, M. Sermesant, E. Kuhl, A. A. Young, P. Moireau, M. P. Nash, D. Chapelle, and D. A. Nordsletten, *Multiphysics and multiscale modelling, data-model fusion and integration of organ physiology in the clinic: ventricular cardiac mechanics*, Interface Focus 6 (2016), no. 2, 20150083.
- [22] P. G. Ciarlet, The finite element method for elliptic problems, Classics in Applied Mathematics, vol. 40, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2002. Reprint of the 1978 original [North-Holland, Amsterdam; MR0520174 (58 #25001)], DOI 10.1137/1.9780898719208. MR1930132
- [23] A. Cohen and R. DeVore, Approximation of high-dimensional parametric PDEs, Acta Numer. 24 (2015), 1–159, DOI 10.1017/S0962492915000033. MR3349307
- [24] P. Colli Franzone, L. F. Pavarino, and S. Scacchi, Mathematical cardiac electrophysiology, MS&A. Modeling, Simulation and Applications, vol. 13, Springer, Cham, 2014, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-04801-7. MR3308707
- [25] P. Colli Franzone, L. F. Pavarino, and G. Savaré, Computational electrocardiology: mathematical and numerical modeling, Complex systems in biomedicine, Springer Italia, Milan, 2006, pp. 187–241, DOI 10.1007/88-470-0396-2_6. MR2488001
- [26] Edmund J Crampin, Matthew Halstead, Peter Hunter, Poul Nielsen, Denis Noble, Nicolas Smith, and Merryn Tawhai, *Computational physiology and the physiome project*, Experimental Physiology 89 (2004), no. 1, 1–26.

- [27] B. Dacorogna, Direct methods in the calculus of variations, 2nd ed., Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 78, Springer, New York, 2008. MR2361288
- [28] L. Dedè, A. Gerbi, and A. Quarteroni, Segregated algorithms for the numerical simulation of cardiac electromechanics in the left human ventricle, The mathematics of mechanobiology, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 2260, Springer, Cham, [2020] ©2020, pp. 81–116, DOI 10.1007/978-3-030-45197-4.3. MR4175795
- [29] A. Einstein, Eine neue bestimmung der moleküldimensionen, Ph.D. thesis, ETH Zurich, 1905.
- [30] L. Euler, Principia pro motu sanguinis per arterias determinando, Euler Archive—All Works 855 (1862).
- [31] C. Farhat, S. Grimberg, A. Manzoni, and A. Quateroni, Computational bottlenecks for proms: Pre-computation and hyperreduction, Handbook on Model Order Reduction (P. Benner, S. Grivet-Talocia, A. Quarteroni, G Rozza, W. H. A. Schilders, and L. M. Silveira, eds.), De Gruyter, 2019.
- [32] M. Fink, S. A. Niederer, E. M. Cherry, F. H. Fenton, J. T. Koivumäki, G. Seemann, R. Thul, H. Zhang, F. B. Sachse, D. Beard, E. J. Crampin, and N. P. Smith, *Cardiac cell modelling:* observations from the heart of the cardiac physiome project, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology **104** (2011), no. 1, 2–21.
- [33] R. FitzHugh, Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane, Biophysical Journal 1 (1961), no. 6, 445–466.
- [34] P. Colli Franzone and G. Savaré, Degenerate evolution systems modeling the cardiac electric field at micro- and macroscopic level, Evolution equations, semigroups and functional analysis (Milano, 2000), Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., vol. 50, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2002, pp. 49–78. MR1944157
- [35] A. Frontera, S. Pagani, L. R. Limite, A. Hadjis, A. Manzoni, L. Dedè, A. Quarteroni, and P. Della Bella, Outer loop and isthmus in ventricular tachycardia circuits: Characteristics and implications, Heart Rhythm 17 (2020), no. 10, 1719–1728, Focus Issue: Sudden Death.
- [36] A. Gerbi, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, A monolithic algorithm for the simulation of cardiac electromechanics in the human left ventricle, Math. Eng. 1 (2019), no. 1, 1–37, DOI 10.3934/Mine.2018.1.1. MR4135067
- [37] Leon Glass, Peter Hunter, and Andrew McCulloch, Theory of heart: biomechanics, biophysics, and nonlinear dynamics of cardiac function, Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [38] G. Golub and J. M. Ortega, Scientific computing: An introduction with parallel computing, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1993. MR1200454
- [39] J. M. Guccione, K. D. Costa, and A. D. McCulloch, Finite element stress analysis of left ventricular mechanics in the beating dog heart, Journal of Biomechanics 28 (1995), no. 10, 1167–1177.
- [40] J. M. Guccione, A. D. McCulloch, and L. K. Waldman, Passive material properties of intact ventricular myocardium determined from a cylindrical model, Journal of Biomechanical Engineering 113 (1991), no. 1, 42–55.
- [41] J. S. Hesthaven, G. Rozza, and B. Stamm, Certified reduced basis methods for parametrized partial differential equations, SpringerBriefs in Mathematics, Springer, Cham; BCAM Basque Center for Applied Mathematics, Bilbao, 2016. BCAM SpringerBriefs, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-22470-1. MR3408061
- [42] M. Hirschvogel, M. Bassilious, L. Jagschies, S. M. Wildhirt, and M. W. Gee, A monolithic 3D-0D coupled closed-loop model of the heart and the vascular system: experiment-based parameter estimation for patient-specific cardiac mechanics, Int. J. Numer. Methods Biomed. Eng. 33 (2017), no. 8, e2842, 22, DOI 10.1002/cnm.2842. MR3690497
- [43] G. A. Holzapfel and R. W. Ogden, Constitutive modelling of passive myocardium: a structurally based framework for material characterization, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 367 (2009), no. 1902, 3445–3475, DOI 10.1098/rsta.2009.0091. MR2529287
- [44] P. J. Hunter, A. D. McCulloch, and H. E. D. J. Ter Keurs, Modelling the mechanical properties of cardiac muscle, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 69 (1998), no. 2, 289–331.
- [45] A. F. Huxley and R. Niedergerke, Structural changes in muscle during contraction: Interference microscopy of living muscle fibres, Nature 173 (1954), no. 4412, 971–973.
- [46] H. Huxley and J. Hanson, Changes in the cross-striations of muscle during contraction and stretch and their structural interpretation, Nature 173 (1954), no. 4412, 973–976.

- [47] G. W. Jenkins, C. P. Kemnitz, and G. J. Tortora, Anatomy and Physiology: from Science to Life, Wiley, Hoboken, 2007.
- [48] A. M. Katz, Physiology of the Heart, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2010.
- [49] S. Land and S. A. Niederer, A spatially detailed model of isometric contraction based on competitive binding of troponin i explains cooperative interactions between tropomyosin and crossbridges, PLoS Computational Biology 11 (2015), no. 8, e1004376.
- [50] S. Land, S. Park-Holohan, N. P. Smith, C. G. dos Remedios, J. C. Kentish, and S. A. Niederer, A model of cardiac contraction based on novel measurements of tension development in human cardiomyocytes, Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 106 (2017), 68–83.
- [51] Sa. Land, S. A. Niederer, J. M. Aronsen, E. K. S. Espe, L. Zhang, W. E. Louch, I. Sjaastad, O. M. Sejersted, and N. P. Smith, An analysis of deformation-dependent electromechanical coupling in the mouse heart, The Journal of Physiology 590 (2012), no. 18, 4553–4569.
- [52] C.-H. Luo and Y. Rudy, A dynamic model of the cardiac ventricular action potential. I. Simulations of ionic currents and concentration changes., Circulation Research 74 (1994), no. 6, 1071–1096.
- [53] C. B. Morrey Jr., Quasi-convexity and the lower semicontinuity of multiple integrals, Pacific J. Math. 2 (1952), 25–53. MR54865
- [54] J. Nagumo, S. Arimoto, and S. Yoshizawa, An active pulse transmission line simulating nerve axon, Proceedings of the IRE 50 (1962), no. 10, 2061–2070.
- [55] S. A. Niederer, P. J. Hunter, and N. P. Smith, A quantitative analysis of cardiac myocyte relaxation: a simulation study, Biophysical Journal 90 (2006), no. 5, 1697–1722.
- [56] S. A. Niederer, K. S. Campbell, and S. G. Campbell, A short history of the development of mathematical models of cardiac mechanics, Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 127 (2019), 11–19.
- [57] D. A. Nordsletten, S. A. Niederer, M. P. Nash, P. J. Hunter, and N. P. Smith, *Coupling multi-physics models to cardiac mechanics*, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 104 (2011), no. 1-3, 77–88.
- [58] R. W. Ogden, Nonlinear elastic deformations, Ellis Horwood Series: Mathematics and its Applications, Ellis Horwood Ltd., Chichester; Halsted Press [John Wiley & Sons, Inc.], New York, 1984. MR770388
- [59] T. O'Hara, L/ Virág, A. Varró, and Y. Rudy, Simulation of the undiseased human cardiac ventricular action potential: model formulation and experimental validation, PLoS Computational Biology 7 (2011), no. 5, e1002061.
- [60] P. Pathmanathan, S. J. Chapman, D. J. Gavaghan, and J. P. Whiteley, Cardiac electromechanics: the effect of contraction model on the mathematical problem and accuracy of the numerical scheme, Quart. J. Mech. Appl. Math. 63 (2010), no. 3, 375–399, DOI 10.1093/qjmam/hbq014. MR2672150
- [61] C. S. Peskin, Flow patterns around heart valves: a numerical method, Journal of Computational Physics 10 (1972), no. 2, 252–271.
- [62] C. S. Peskin, Numerical analysis of blood flow in the heart, J. Comput. Phys. 25 (1977), no. 3, 220–252, DOI 10.1016/0021-9991(77)90100-0. MR490027
- [63] C. S. Peskin, The fluid dynamics of heart valves: experimental, theoretical, and computational methods., Annual Review of Fluid Mechanics 14 (1982), 235–259.
- [64] A. Quarteroni, Numerical models for differential problems, MS&A. Modeling, Simulation and Applications, vol. 16, Springer, Cham, 2017. Third edition of [MR3183828], DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49316-9. MR3702005
- [65] A. Quarteroni, L. Dedè, A. Manzoni, and C. Vergara, Mathematical modelling of the human cardiovascular system: Data, numerical approximation, clinical applications, Cambridge Monographs on Applied and Computational Mathematics, vol. 33, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2019, DOI 10.1017/9781108616096. MR3967732
- [66] A. Quarteroni, A. Manzoni, and F. Negri, *Reduced basis methods for partial differential equations: An introduction*, Unitext, vol. 92, Springer, Cham, 2016. La Matematica per il 3+2, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-15431-2. MR3379913
- [67] A. Quarteroni, R. Sacco, and F. Saleri, Numerical Mathematics, vol. 37, Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [68] A. Quarteroni and A. Valli, Numerical approximation of partial differential equations, Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, vol. 23, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. MR1299729

- [69] A. Quarteroni, A. Veneziani, and C. Vergara, Geometric multiscale modeling of the cardiovascular system, between theory and practice, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 302 (2016), 193–252, DOI 10.1016/j.cma.2016.01.007. MR3461111
- [70] F. Regazzoni, Mathematical modeling and machine learning for the numerical simulation of cardiac electromechanics, Ph.D. thesis, Politecnico di Milano, 2020.
- [71] F. Regazzoni, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Active contraction of cardiac cells: a reduced model for sarcomere dynamics with cooperative interactions, Biomechanics and Modeling in Mechanobiology 17 (2018), 1663–1686.
- [72] F. Regazzoni, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Biophysically detailed mathematical models of multiscale cardiac active mechanics, PLOS Computational Biology 16 (2020), no. 10, e1008294.
- [73] F. Regazzoni, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Machine learning of multiscale active force generation models for the efficient simulation of cardiac electromechanics, Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 370 (2020), 113268, 30, DOI 10.1016/j.cma.2020.113268. MR4122006
- [74] F. Regazzoni, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Active force generation in cardiac muscle cells: mathematical modeling and numerical simulation of the actin-myosin interaction, Vietnam J. Math. 49 (2021), no. 1, 87–118, DOI 10.1007/s10013-020-00433-z. MR4236966
- [75] F. Regazzoni, M. Salvador, P. C. Africa, M. Fedele, L. Dede', and A. Quarteroni, A cardiac electromechanics model coupled with a lumped parameters model for closed-loop blood circulation. Part I: Model derivation, arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.15040 (2020).
- [76] F. Regazzoni, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, A cardiac electromechanics model coupled with a lumped parameters model for closed-loop blood circulation. Part II: Numerical approximation, arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.15051 (2020).
- [77] J. J. Rice and P. P. de Tombe, Approaches to modeling crossbridges and calcium-dependent activation in cardiac muscle, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 85 (2004), no. 2, 179–195.
- [78] J. J. Rice, G. Stolovitzky, Y. Tu, and P. P. de Tombe, *Ising model of cardiac thin filament ac*tivation with nearest-neighbor cooperative interactions, Biophysical Journal 84 (2003), no. 2, 897–909.
- [79] J. J. Rice, F. Wang, D. M. Bers, and P. P. de Tombe, Approximate model of cooperative activation and crossbridge cycling in cardiac muscle using ordinary differential equations, Biophysical Journal 95 (2008), no. 5, 2368–2390.
- [80] J. J. Rice, R. L. Winslow, and W. C. Hunter, Comparison of putative cooperative mechanisms in cardiac muscle: length dependence and dynamic responses, American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 276 (1999), no. 5, H1734–H1754.
- [81] F. B. Sachse, K. G. Glänzel, and G. Seemann, Modeling of protein interactions involved in cardiac tension development, Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg. 13 (2003), no. 12, 3561– 3578, DOI 10.1142/S0218127403008855. Virtual tissue engineering of the heart. MR2056733
- [82] M. Salvador, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, An intergrid transfer operator using radial basis functions with application to cardiac electromechanics, Comput. Mech. 66 (2020), no. 2, 491–511, DOI 10.1007/s00466-020-01861-x. MR4124980
- [83] N. P. Smith, D. P. Nickerson, E. J. Crampin, and P. J. Hunter, Multiscale computational modelling of the heart, Acta Numer. 13 (2004), 371–431, DOI 10.1017/S0962492904000200. MR2249149
- [84] S. Stella, C. Vergara, M. Maines, D. Catanzariti, P. C. Africa, C. Demattè, M. Centonze, F. Nobile, M. Del Greco, and A. Quarteroni, *Integration of activation maps of epicardial* veins in computational cardiac electrophysiology, Computers in Biology and Medicine 127 (2020), 104047.
- [85] S. Sugiura, T. Washio, A. Hatano, J. Okada, H. Watanabe, and T. Hisada, Multi-scale simulations of cardiac electrophysiology and mechanics using the university of tokyo heart simulator, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology 110 (2012), no. 2, 380–389.
- [86] J. Sundnes, G. T. Lines, X. Cai, B. F. Nielsen, K.-A. Mardal, and A. Tveito, *Computing the electrical activity in the heart*, Monographs in Computational Science and Engineering, vol. 1, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006. MR2258456
- [87] A. Tagliabue, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Complex blood flow patterns in an idealized left ventricle: a numerical study, Chaos 27 (2017), no. 9, 093939, 26, DOI 10.1063/1.5002120. MR3705219
- [88] A. Tagliabue, L. Dedè, and A. Quarteroni, Fluid dynamics of an idealized left ventricle: the extended Nitsche's method for the treatment of heart valves as mixed time varying

boundary conditions, Internat. J. Numer. Methods Fluids **85** (2017), no. 3, 135–164, DOI 10.1002/fld.4375. MR3688092

- [89] K. H. W. J. Ten Tusscher and A. V. Panfilov, Alternans and spiral breakup in a human ventricular tissue model, American Journal of Physiology–Heart and Circulatory Physiology 291 (2006), no. 3, H1088–H1100.
- [90] N. A. Trayanova, Whole-heart modeling applications to cardiac electrophysiology and electromechanics, Circulation Research 108 (2011), 113–128.
- [91] L. N. Trefethen and D. Bau III, Numerical linear algebra, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1997, DOI 10.1137/1.9780898719574. MR1444820
- [92] T. P. Usyk, I. J. LeGrice, and A. D. McCulloch, Computational model of three-dimensional cardiac electromechanics, Computing and Visualization in Science 4 (2002), no. 4, 249–257.
- [93] M. Veneroni, Reaction-diffusion systems for the macroscopic bidomain model of the cardiac electric field, Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 10 (2009), no. 2, 849–868, DOI 10.1016/j.nonrwa.2007.11.008. MR2474265
- [94] E. J. Vigmond, C. Clements, D. M. McQueen, and C. S. Peskin, *Effect of bundle branch block on cardiac output: a whole heart simulation study*, Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology **97** (2008), no. 2-3, 520–542.
- [95] T. Washio, J. Okada, S. Sugiura, and T. Hisada, Approximation for cooperative interactions of a spatially-detailed cardiac sarcomere model, Cellular and Molecular Bioengineering 5 (2012), no. 1, 113–126.
- [96] T. Washio, J.-i. Okada, A. Takahashi, K. Yoneda, Y. Kadooka, S. Sugiura, and T. Hisada, Multiscale heart simulation with cooperative stochastic cross-bridge dynamics and cellular structures, Multiscale Model. Simul. 11 (2013), no. 4, 965–999, DOI 10.1137/120892866. MR3111652
- [97] T. Washio, K. Yoneda, J.-i. Okada, T. Kariya, S. Sugiura, and T. Hisada, Ventricular fiber optimization utilizing the branching structure, Int. J. Numer. Methods Biomed. Eng. 32 (2016), no. 7, e02753, 34, DOI 10.1002/cnm.2753. MR3520705

MOX-DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA, POLITECNICO DI MILANO, MILANO, ITALY; AND MATH-EMATICS INSTITUTE, ÉCOLE POLYTECHNIQUE FÉDÉRALE DE LAUSANNE, SWITZERLAND Email address: alfio.quarteroni@polimi.it

MOX-DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA, POLITECNICO DI MILANO, MILANO, ITALY Email address: luca.ded@polimi.it

MOX-DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA, POLITECNICO DI MILANO, MILANO, ITALY Email address: francesco.regazzoni@polimi.it